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ROSE MARIE BEEBE AND 

ROBERT M . SENKEWICZ 

WHAT THEY BROUGHT: THE ALTA CALIFORNIA 

FRANCISCANS BEFORE 1769 

F
or a long period beginning in the nineteenth century, historians of 
California generally characterized missionaries during the Spanish 
and Mexican eras in one of two ways: as heroic agents of civiliza­

tion or nefarious purveyors of destruction. The heroic interpretation be­
came dominant in works influenced by the Spanish Revival movement, 
and it was also evident in the writings of the great Franciscan historians 
Zephryn Engelhardt, Maynard J. Geiger, and Francis F. Guest, all of 
whom based their work on the trove of documents at the Santa Barbara 
Mission Archive-Library. In the 1980s and 1990s, the nefarious interpre­
tation became especially pronounced, due to a number of books that ap­
peared in connection with the controversies surrounding the proposed 
canonization of Junipero Serra and the commemoration of the Colum­
bus quincentenary.1 

In the past fifteen years, however, mission historians have consciously 
shifted their perspective to focus on Indians. ln this new framework, the 
missionaries have been, very properly, de-centered. They tend to be re­
garded as an important set of people who-along with soldiers and 
settlers-made up part of the context and shaped part of the environment 
in which native Californians were active agents. As one set of actors among 
many, they were shaped in complex ways by all those with whom they in­
teracted. Thus it is possible to see them in a more nuanced light.2 

This essay is in that vein, for we endeavor to move beyond celebra­
tion or condemnation. Using Junipero Serra as an exemplar, we seek to 
determine how a person's identity as a Spanish Franciscan might affect 
both his choice to become a missionary in New Spain and how he lived 
out that choice. For Serra and his religious brothers, one of the most ex­
citing things about Alta California was that they were in the first group 
of Spanish colonists to arrive there. They believed that elsewhere in New 
Spain, settlers, soldiers, and officials had oppressed the native peoples 
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and inhibited the spread of the gospel. They thought that Alta Califor­
nia offered them a chance to set things right. They idealized Alta Cali­
fornia as a fertile and inviting field. These missionaries did not realize 
that their assessment was deeply colored by the militant religious sup­
positions they had brought from early modern Spain and by their strug­
gles with other Spanish colonists over how to treat indigenous peoples, 
a question that had divided religious and civil authorities in New Spain 
since the early sixteenth century. They viewed Alta California and its in­
habitants through a lens that owed far more to the history of Spain and 
central Mexico than to anything or anyone that actually existed in Alta 
California. What Junipero Serra wanted to accomplish with the native 
peoples of Alta California was shaped by what he and his order had 
learned from their experiences in Mallorca, Mexico City, the Sierra 
Gorda, and Baja California. 

We chose to focus on Serra because he was father president of the 
Alta California missions, because his activities produced a rich docu­
mentary record, and because he has come to symbolize the entire Cali­
fornia missionary enterprise. However, a cautionary note is in order. 
Serra's voice was not the only missionary voice. Indeed, even during his 
lifetime, his views were far from unchallenged. In 1771 his former stu­
dent and closest missionary companion, Francisco Pal6u, wrote to Mex­
ico City to criticize Serra for wanting to establish too many missions too 
quickly. In 1775 his religious superior in Mexico City, exasperated by 
Serra's tendency to act without sufficient consultation, publicly chastised 
him and severely limited his powers in a strongly worded letter that he 
sent to all the California missionaries. We can learn much about the mis­
sionary experience by examining Serra- but not everything. His fellow 
missionaries could and did disagree with him. Tensions within the mis­
sionary community were more common than is often realized.3 

Petra 

Since this volume is occasioned by the completion of the Early Cali­
fornia Population Project, let us introduce Junipero Serra with two 
baptismal entries contained in that marvelous database. One, dated De­
cember 26, 1770, records Serra's first baptism in Alta California. It reads: 

In the name of the Father, the Son, and the Holy Spirit. Amen 
On December 26, 1770, in the church of this mission, 
San Carlos de Monterrey, I solemnly baptized a boy, 
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about five years old, the son of gentile parents who will­
ingly presented him to the Catholic Church. And I 
named him Bernardino de Jesus. His godfather was 
Lieutenant Don Pedro Fages, an officer of the Company 
of Catalonian Volunteers and commander of the Royal 
Presidio of this port. I reminded him of the spiritual 
bond and obligation he entered into. And in order for it 
to be on record, I signed it. 

Fr. Junipero Serra 

Why did Serra name the first Indian he baptized in Alta California 
Bernardino? The answer most likely lies in the village of his birth, Petra, 
on the eastern side of the Mediterranean island of Mallorca. Petra had 
two churches. One was named San Pedro. This is where Miguel Jose 
Serra was baptized on November 24, 1713. The other church, where 
young Serra attended a Franciscan grammar school, was named San 
Bernardino.4 

Another entry records a baptism he performed on September 3, 

1782. It reads: 

On September 3, 1782, in the church of this mission, San 
Carlos de Monterrey, I solemnly baptized a girl, about 
thirteen years old, the daughter of gentile parents from 
Sargenta-Ruc, the same parents of the boy Leonardo, 
number 300 in this book. I gave her the name Maria de 
Buen-aflo, (in honor of Most Holy Mary of my beloved 
homeland). Her godmother was Maria del Carmen 
Chamorro, wife of Corporal Jose Marcelino Bravo. I ad­
vised her of her responsibilities. And in order for it to be 
on record, I signed it. 

Fr. Junipero Serra 

Here the reference to Mallorca ("my beloved homeland") is explicit. The 
name Serra gave the child was an allusion to a devotion to Mary under 
the title of"Bonany" (Catalan for "Buen Ano" [good year]). This was a Mal­
lorcan devotion dating from 1609, a year of bountiful harvests after many 
years of drought. The "good year" was attributed to the villagers' prayers to 
Mary. A chapel to Mary was built outside of Petra to commemorate the 
happy result. As it happened, the harvest at Mission San Carlos was pro­
jected to be a poor one in September 1782. This baptismal record suggests 
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that Serra hoped to encourage the Virgin to act in Monterey Bay as he be­
lieved she had acted in Petra. Half a century after he left hi~ ancestral vil­
lage, its traditions were still very much a part ofJunfpero Serra.5 

Petra was a very old rural settlement; its roots may have reached 
back to Roman times. Serra was proud of its history. In 1748 he boasted 
that his village was one of the four oldest villas on the island. Serra grew 
up close to the land in a region where the forces of nature determined 
much about the quality of life. Cycles of drought had long been a fact of 
life on Mallorca. During the Middle Ages, Mallorca had won the right to 
alleviate famines by trading for wheat among the Muslims of southern 
Spain and northern Africa. Engaging in such commerce thus became one 
of the traditional privileges (jueros) of the island. Drought likely featured 
among Serra's last memories of Mallorca. In 1747, two years before he 
left for the Americas, the harvests began to fail. By the end of the 1740s, 
the island's farmers were bringing in only one-sixth of the amount of 
wheat they had harvested only a few years earlier. A number of the 
wealthier Mallorcan families left for the mainland and their absence ap­
pears to have contributed to a further decline in the local economy.6 

These Mallorcan agricultural catastrophes left a permanent mark on 
Serra. His correspondence demonstrates his insatiable desire to leave no 
detail of the agricultural and economic development of the missions un­
attended. Large sections of his 1773 representaci6n to the viceroy, which 
is mostly remembered for Serra's successful appeal to get Pedro Fages re­
placed as military commander of Alta California, were devoted to the is­
sues of maintaining and supplying the struggling missions. Serra's remarks 
covered a range of topics, such as the necessity of immediately readying 
a new frigate, the best way for invoices to be drawn up at San Blas, and the 
reasons why the missions needed another forge and a blacksmith.7 

Another aspect of life in Petra continued to influence Serra. After 
around 1720, it appears that the production of textiles increased notably 
in the rural areas of the island. In Mallorca, as elsewhere in Europe, most 
of this work was done by women. Figures are hard to come by, but it ap­
pears that between 1720 and 1755, when Serra was growing up in Petra, 
studying and teaching in Palma, and traveling widely throughout the 
Mallorcan countryside as a preacher, textile exports from the island al­
most tripled. Women therefore played an especially important economic 
role in the communities in which Serra lived and worked during this pe­
riod. For Serra and the Mallorcans who accompanied him to the New 
World, the well-ordered rural community included women who were 
engaged in weaving and other forms of domestic production. In his 
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laudatory biography of Serra, Palou described his and Serra's missionary 
activities in the Sierra Gorda from 1750 to 1758 in terms that harked back 
to their experiences in the Balearic Islands. Under Serra's leadership, he 
said, "the harvests increased and became so abundant that some was left 
over;' and the native women were employed "in tasks befitting their sex, 
such as spinning, weaving, making stockings, knitting, sewing, and so 
forth:' In some ways, Serra's journey to the New World represented a 
journey back to Petra.8 

Becoming funipero 

Serra left Petra when he was fifteen years old. He then spent a year study­
ing with one of the canons of the cathedral in Palma. He applied for ad­
mission to the Franciscans soon after he celebrated his sixteenth birthday 
but his petition was denied. The reason may have been that people 
named "Serra" had been identified and punished by the Mallorcan In­
quisition from the end of the fifteenth century until at least the beginning 
of the seventeenth century. Serra reapplied about six months later and 
was accepted. He spent a year as a novice, a period during which he lived 
in a Franciscan community and studied Franciscan spirituality. In Sep­
tember 1731, he formally became a Franciscan by taking solemn VOVfS of 
poverty, chastity, and obedience. On this occasion, he changed his name 
to Junipero.9 

It was not unusual for young religious to take the name of a favorite 
saint or a holy person when they took their vows. They might add that 
name to their given name, as a type of middle name. In this way they 
were expressing their devotion to a significant figure in their religious 
development. However, it was unusual for them to use that new name in 
place of their given name. Of all the Mallorcan Franciscans who came to 
the New World, Serra seems to have been the only one to have done that. 
What was the significance of this choice?10 

Brother Junipero was one of the companions of Francis of Assisi, the 
founder of the order. Brother Junipero was known for patience, humility, 
and simplicity. None of these are qualities that one spontaneously asso­
ciates with Junipero Serra. Perhaps Serra knew himself well enough to re­
alize that these were qualities that he would always have to struggle to 
attain. If so, then his choice of name suggests that he anticipated that life 
as a member of a religious order would be a challenging struggle to attain 
a series of ideals.11 

The name Junipero also had general connotations of strength. Fran­
cis is supposed to have once said, "Would that I had a forest ofJunipers:' 
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Perhaps this aspiration was personal as well, for Serra himself was small 
and slight and always seemed to be pushing himself to compensate for a 
lack of physical prowess. As a novice, he had been embarrassed that he 
was too short to reach a lectern to perform a regular duty of the novices­
turning the pages of the book for the friar who was leading the chant. 12 

Finally, a local variety of the juniper plant, ginebr6, flourished in the 
Mallorcan countryside. The choice of the name thus may also be another 
reference to his childhood and his place of birth- Serra's way of saying 
that his new identity as a Franciscan would incorporate his older one as 
a resident of rural Mallorca.13 

For centuries Spaniards and other Europeans had been changing in­
digenous names of people and places in the Americas to European names 
as an expression of the new colonial relationship. As we have seen, Serra 
did the same thing in California, but he had first done it to himself. In 
Serra, we encounter a man for whom adopting a new name to express a 
new identity and a new relationship was a normal part of life. 

Ram6nLlull 
After Serra finished his novitiate on the outskirts of Palma, he moved 
into the city. He studied and taught at the university named for one of the 
most famous Mallorcans, Ramon Llull. Theologian, philosopher, mystic, 
poet, scholar, and the author of over one hundred works, Llull was born 
in Mallorca in 1232 and died in 1315. He was a member of the third order 
of Saint Francis, a group designed for those who wished to cultivate Fran­
ciscan spirituality in their lives without becoming priests, brothers, or 
sisters. Llull's tomb was in the great Franciscan church in Palma, Sant 
Francese, in whose convent Serra lived for almost twenty years.14 

Llull was very interested in missionary work to the Muslims of North 
Africa. He traveled there a number of times to engage Muslim scholars 
and leaders in conversation and to preach there. In this he was reminis­
cent of Francis of Assisi, who had once traveled to Egypt to preach to 
Sultan Melek el-Kamel. In 1276, Llull even started a school on Mallorca 
to train missionaries in Arabic.15 

Llull's reputation in official church circles waxed and waned over the 
centuries after his death, but in Mallorca he was always regarded very 
favorably. The university in Palma, founded in 1483, was named the "Es­
tudio General Lulliano:' Even after its name was officially changed in 
1526, it continued to be called the "Lullian university:' In 1721 a definitive 
edition of Llull's works was completed in Germany, and this gave rise to 
what one Llull scholar has termed a "flurry" of publications in Mallorca: 
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between 1720 and 1750, at least forty-three editions of various Llull works 
were published on the island.16 

This growing of interest in Llull was part of a larger cultural devel­
opment in Mallorca in the first decades of the eighteenth century. Since 
being conquered by King Jaime I of Aragon in 1229, Mallorca's primary 
association with the Spanish mainland had been with that northeastern 
region of the Iberian Peninsula. Like most Aragon-related jurisdictions, 
Mallorca favored the claim of Hapsburg Archduke Charles over that of 
the Bourbon Duke of Anjou, Philip, in the succession controversy at the 
beginning of the eighteenth century. Mallorca felt that the Hapsburgs 
would be more likely than the Bourbons to retain the traditional local 
privileges (fueros) that the island had enjoyed. When the War of the 
Spanish Succession (1701-14) ended with Philip on the throne, he was 
quick to extend his control over Mallorca. In 1714 the royal fleet ap­
peared off of Palma and an army landed on the eastern coast. In 1715 the 
army entered Felanitx, about ten miles south of Petra. The conquest was 
achieved in short order and the traditional local privileges were su­
perceded by a decree known as the Nueva Planta, issued in 1715. This 
was one of a series of decrees propagated in a number of localities by 
which the Bourbons imposed their central authority. The Mallorca~ ver­
sion of the Nueva Planta reduced local power, including the power of 
the Church.17 

The new authorities took additional steps to exert control over the 
island. In 1721 the commander general ordered his troops to fan out 
through the countryside to put down remnants of local resistance. In the 
countryside, people often took refuge in churches, but the Bourbon 
troops disregarded the right of sanctuary and routinely entered churches 
to make arrests. And, in 1747, two years before Serra left for the New 
World, the army swept through Palma and forcibly conscripted a large 
number of young men, who were sent to join the royal forces in the siege 
of Naples.18 

In the context of these events, the revival of interest in Llull can be 
seen as part of the reassertion of what one historian has termed an "in­
sular nationalism" in the face of Bourbon initiatives. In another cultural 
assault, the Bourbon centralizers and the early patrons of the Spanish 
Enlightenment who were associated with them tended to disparage local 
cults. Benito Jeronimo Feijoo, one of the leading exponents of this trend, 
ridiculed Llull's most significant work, the Ars Magna, scornfully noting 
that in Mallorca, Llull was venerated as a saint and his words were 
regarded as "the trumpet of the Holy Spirit:' Antoni Ramon Pascual, a 
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colleague of Serra's at the Lullian University, published a two-volume re­
sponse to Feijoo and defense of Llull in 1749- 50.19 

As a result of the association of Llull with Mallorcan pride, one of the 
major annual events in Mallorca became the sermon preached on Llull's 
feast day, January 25, in the church of Sant Francese. On January 25, 1749, 
that sermon was preached by none other than Junfpero Serra. A copy of 
it has not survived, but Pal6u tells us that a retired faculty member said 
that the sermon should be "printed in letters of gold'.' The sermon con­
nects Serra very closely with the local tradition of Mallorca and suggests 
that he was among those who opposed the centralization and the mili­
tary efforts that were used to enforce it.20 

By the time Serra arrived in New Spain, the tensions between mis­
sionaries and soldiers had a long history. Indeed, events in New Spain 
are sufficient to explain the quarrels between Serra and a series of mili­
tary officers in Alta California. Serra's antipathy to the military, however, 
was particularly intense compared with other missionaries. It figured in 
a number of conflicts, but perhaps most forcefully in the disputes he had 
with military commander Fernando de Rivera y Moncada in the mid-
177os. Their quarrel was ferocious. When Serra wrote Rivera and rather 
sanctimoniously expressed the hope that God might forgive Rivera for all 
the trouble he was causing Serra, Rivera shot back that Serra was the one 
who needed divine forgiveness. He told Serra to stop whining: undiplo­
matically, he asked for "less noise'.' Serra was particularly irked when, in 
an echo of Bourbon behavior in Mallorca, Rivera personally entered a 
room that was being used as a chapel at the San Diego presidio and ar­
rested a baptized Indian who had been one of the leaders of the 1775 
Kumeyaay revolt and was claiming sanctuary there.21 

"The Other" 

As in many places in Spain, Mallorca's own identity was closely associ­
ated with struggles against the "other'.' The Inquisition had been set up on 
the island at the same time that it was established in the rest of the Iber­
ian Peninsula in the fifteenth and sixteenth centuries. But at least in its 
formal activities, the Inquisition was less active after about the middle 
of the sixteenth century. The next hundred years were a time of economic 
troubles for both Spain and Mallorca. This period climaxed around 1650, 
when a plague ravaged the island, killing as much as 20 percent of the 
population. Prosperity began to return to Spain in the second half of the 
seventeenth century. The coastal areas were the first to experience this, 
and Mallorca participated in it. However, the gradual rise in prosperity 
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appears to have increased tensions on the island, sparking some resent­
ment against the conversos (baptized Catholics of Jewish descent), who 
were the backbone of Palma's commercial class. These people found 
themselves targeted. 22 

In 1675, the Inquisition condemned a Jewish man fleeing from North 
Africa to be burned alive in Palma. It conducted mass arrests and trials 
in 1679 and, in an auto-da-fe in 1691, burned three conversos alive. The 
Inquisition also seized large amounts of property as part of this persecu­
tion. According to Henry Kamen, the confiscations were the largest in all 
three centuries of the Spanish Inquisition. The moves against the con­
versos, who were called chuetas, a derogatory term probably derived from 
the diminutive of an old Mallorcan word for "Jew;' basically involved the 
seizure and redistribution of much of the commercial wealth of Palma. 23 

During the entire eighteenth century, conversos could live only in a 
specific part of the city. Autos-da-fe were held in Palma in 1722 and 1724, 
although no one was executed in connection with them. However, open 
hostility to the conversos continued throughout the eighteenth ce!'}tury. 
For example, in 1755 the Inquisition in Mallorca published a list of all the 
people on the island whom it had punished since 1645. Also in 1755, a 
1691 book by the Jesuit Francisco Garau, describing in gruesome detail 
the executions at the end of the seventeenth century, was republished in 
Palma. In 1772 the chuetas of Mallorca addressed a formal petition and 
protest to King Carlos III, who issued three decrees in the 1780s forbid­
ding various forms of discrimination against them.24 

During the 1740s, Serra was a comisario (investigator) of the Inqui­
sition.25 His formal participation mainly involved examining works for 
their orthodoxy to determine whether they should be published, a task 
not explicitly related to the treatment of conversos. Living in a city with 
a large and identifiable converso population, however, affected how Serra 
and Spaniards with similar experiences looked upon the fundamental 
task of a missionary: conversion. To put it simply, association with the In­
quisition and residence in a city known for its anti-converso actions 
caused Serra and those like him to suspect the authenticity of conver­
sions. The more the Inquisition took action against so-called Judaizantes, 
the more it raised doubts about the sincerity of the "conversion" of the 
conversos. 

In this context, any deviation from the officially sanctioned norms of 
Christian behavior would be regarded as a deliberate turning away from 
the true religion. Much of Serra's later disagreements in Alta California 
with Governor Felipe de Neve revolved around Neve's attempts to hasten 
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what he regarded as the assimilation of the indigenous peoples by creat­
ing meaningful positions of local authority for them within the colonial 
order. Serra objected to this because he was convinced that these Indi­
ans were, in their own fashion, secret Judaizantes, that is, people who 
were holding on to their traditional ways after baptism. In 1780 Serra bit­
terly complained to Neve that Baltazar, a baptized Indian who had been 
elected alcalde at Carmel, had proven to be a "deserter ... inciting the 
people here, meeting personally with those who leave here with permis­
sion, and thereby trying to swell the members of his band'.' In Serra's judg­
ment, Baltazar's behavior had proven that his conversion was insincere, 
and he was not the only false convert. At both San Gabriel and San Luis 
Obispo, Serra complained, the office of alcalde had been bestowed on 
native leaders who had not totally renounced their native traditions. 
These natives' sexual activity was central to his complaints. He called 
Baltazar an "adulterer'.' He also stated that the San Luis Obispo alcalde 
"kidnaped another man's wife and took off with her;' and grumbled that 
the San Gabriel alcalde, Nicolas, "was supplying women to as many sol­
diers as asked for them'.'26 

When contemporary historians, archaeologists, or anthropologists 
look at the two-millennia-long history of Christian evangelization, some 
conclude that most populations targeted by missionaries neither wholly 
accept nor wholly reject Christianity. In missionary preaching, Christian 
concepts were necessarily interpreted through the prism of indigenous 
religion. Christian words gained new meaning as they were filtered 
through indigenous vocabulary and grammar and as Christian elements 
were incorporated into an indigenous worldview. The result of all this 
was often a spirituality that was neither simply Christian nor simply 
indigenous, but was a fundamentally new blend of the two. Historians 
of European religion have taught us that the "spread" of Christianity 
there was often really the creation of a new type of religion. The reli­
gion that was created and often re-created in constantly evolving forms 
was derived from both Christian and pre-Christian elements.27 

Some Christian missionaries acknowledged this constant dynamic. 
Jesuit missionaries to China in the sixteenth and seventeenth centuries 
largely based their evangelization strategies on emphasizing commonal­
ities between Christian and local religious traditions. Sixteenth-century 
Franciscans in central Mexico did the same. But in Alta California, the 
early missionary approach tended to be less accommodating, in part be­
cause of Serra's suspicions about converts, derived from his association 
with the Inquisition in Mallorca.28 
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Some of Serra's contemporaries attempted to adopt a somewhat 
open view to indigenous forms of expression and to lay the groundwork 
for a less confrontational understanding of native California culture and 
religion. Thanks to the work of the late Alan Brown, we know that Juan 
Crespi's diaries recorded many detailed scenes of native life. But Brown 
also demonstrates how systematically both Pal6u and Serra excised pre­
cisely those sections before allowing the diaries to be circulated. Father 
Vicente de Santa Maria's descriptions of native life in the San Francisco 
Bay region were rendered in an open and, for his day, generous fashion. 
Perhaps that was one of the reasons Serra branded him as "rather dif­
ficult to manage:· Serra's background, by contrast, could make him 
somewhat uninterested in native spirituality and religion. For him, the 
persistence of these traditions created the temptation to backslide. In his 
mind, the Christian California Indians were like the chuetas of Mallorca, 
and he was always suspicious of them when they were out of sight. For 
instance, in a mission's early years, when the nascent complex was not a 
self-sustaining agricultural entity, priests had to allow mission residents 
periodic trips to their own home villages and landscapes. Serra tolerated 
this, but only barely. When he thought an individual was taking too long 
in returning, he would grow angry if the soldiers did not immediately or­
ganize a search party and go out after the "fugitive:'29 

Serra's distrust of native beliefs and traditions did not persist among 
all the Franciscans who came after him. The Ohlone people who were 
painted by Georg Heinrich von Langsdorff as they danced at Mission 
San Jose in 1806 or the Petaluma people whom Louis Charis depicted as 
dancing in the plaza of Mission Dolores a decade later did so with at least 
the tacit approval of the resident missionary. Among these more tolerant 
Franciscans was the priest in charge at Mission San Luis Rey, Antonio 
Peyri, a Catalan who arrived in Alta California twelve years after Serra's 
death. Peyri had been living among the same group of native people for 
twenty-nine consecutive years, and he appears to have accepted the per­
sistence of indigenous traditions. His approach was somewhat different 
from Serra's. When Auguste Duhaut-Cilly visited Mission San Luis Rey 
in 1827, he witnessed a native dance there and remarked of the Indians, 
"Although they may all be Christians, they retain many of their former 
beliefs, which the padres, as a matter of policy, pretend not to notice:'30 

Jews were not the only "other" represented in eighteenth-century 
Mallorca. The island had originally been conquered from the Moors by 
King Jaime I in 1229. The memory of the event was rekindled in 1732, 

when Spanish forces conquered the city of Oran on the North African 
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coast. To celebrate this victory a grand celebration was held in Palma. 
The parades included many student and university groups, including stu­
dents from the Lullian university. As part of the festivities, a group of 
Moorish slaves who were held on the island were paraded through the 
streets of the city in which Serra was living as a young Franciscan stu­
dent. The Reconquista, when Islam was driven from the Iberian Penin­
sula, was still alive. Thirty-seven years later, in 1769, after Portola left San 
Diego for Monterey, Serra decided to dedicate the fledgling mission on 
July 16. This was the date of the famous victory of King Alfonso VIII over 
the Almohades at Navas de Tolosa in 1212. Serra aimed to repeat the Re­
conquista, this time driving non-Christian native religion out of Spanish 
California. 31 

John Duns Scotus 

At the Lullian University, Serra held the chair of Scotistic philosophy, 
named for the thirteenth-century Franciscan theologian John Duns 
Scotus. In the broad sweep of medieval theology and philosophy, Scotus 
was not typical. Indeed, he was rather eccentric, which was why the 
sarcastic name given to the followers of Duns Scotus has survived in the 
word "dunce:' For instance, he rejected the widely held synthesis of one 
of the most influential Christian medieval theologians, Anselm of Can­
terbury, about the doctrine of the redemption wrought through Christ, 
since he thought it placed insufficient emphasis on the boundless love 
of God for humanity. In his theology, Scotus, in common with many 
Franciscans, emphasized the will over the intellect. His philosophy and 
theology also tended to emphasize the qualities of relationships and aes­
thetics over the most static scholastic categories of substance and judg­
ment. He explicitly understood moral goodness in terms of musical 
harmony and used the image of chords on a harp to underscore his in­
sistence that morality involves, above all, a proper relationship among 
human actions. In another passage he spoke of the morally good act as a 
work of art, in which proportion and balance combine to produce some­
thing that is aesthetically pleasing.32 

Serra's insistence on the catechetical benefits of art and music and 
his almost obsessive concern with obtaining good works of art from Mex­
ico for the California missions stemmed in part from his absorption of 
Scotus. In addition, Scotus's emphasis on relationships and his insistence 
on the Trinity as the model of relationships gave Serra's Petra experience 
a philosophical and theological grounding. Well-ordered communities 
did no less than reflect the very nature of God.33 
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Among Franciscans, Scotus was best known for his vigorous theo­
logical defense of the Immaculate Conception. Scotus's justification of 
this idea provided the basis for the Vatican's eventual acceptance of it as 
a Catholic doctrine. In the seventeenth century, the Immaculate Con­
ception was championed both by Franciscans and, for their own reasons, 
by the Hapsburg monarchs of Spain. Devotion to the Immaculate Con­
ception was an important part of Serra's identity, which helps explain his 
embrace of the works and writings of Sor Marfa de Jesus de Agreda, best 
known for her alleged bilocations to New Mexico in the 1620s. Sor Maria 
was a member of the Conceptionists, a Franciscan group that was par­
ticularly devoted to the notion of the Immaculate Conception. She had 
said that God had revealed to her that Native Americans would be con­
vetted to Catholicism at the mere sight of Franciscans. She also said that 
other Franciscans had miraculously preached to some Indian nations 
during the seventeenth century. Serra regarded himself as literally fol­
lowing in their miraculous footsteps. At Mission San Antonio in the early 
1770s, the missionaries reported that a very old Indian woman had said 
that her parents had told her when she was young that a man dressed 
like the missionaries and preaching the Christian gospel had come to the 
region many years ago. Serra and Pal6u believed that this man had been 
one of the Franciscans to whom Sor Marfa had referred.34 

Leaving Mallorca 

Serra spent over eighteen years in academic life in Palma as a student 
and a teacher. He did extremely well in that career. Yet, at some point in 
the 1740s, when he was entering his mid-3os, he seems to have begun to 
become discontented with academics. It was not measuring up to his ex­
pectations and he felt that his own spiritual life was becoming stale. We 
have only Pal6u's account of Serra's interior struggle, but it was obviously 
based on intimate conversations with Serra. According to Pal6u, Serra 
"re-kindled in his heart those desires which had stirred him as a novice, 
but which had been deadened because of his preoccupation with study:' 
In this crisis, Serra chose as his model the recently canonized San Fran­
cisco Solano, who had left Spain for a missionary career at the then­
advanced age of forty. As a Mallorcan Franciscan who walked by the 
missionary Llull's tomb almost every day, for Serra the path to rekindling 
his religious zeal lay across the sea. When he arrived at his residence in 
Mexico City, his first request was to be allowed to live with the novices, 
whose life in the community was the most rigorous and whose youthful 
fervor Serra desired to reclaim. One of Serra's most famous phrases, 
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taken from a letter he wrote soon after he departed Mallorca, was "go 
forward, never turn back:' In fact, Maynard J. Geiger subtitled his bi­
ography of Serra The Man Who Never Turned Back. Yet, in a very fun­
damental fashion, Serra's journey to the Americas was a type of journey 
backward, a quest to recover for himself the religious fervor he felt his ac­
ademic career had stifled.35 

Mexico 
On January 1, 1750, Serra arrived at the Apostolic College of San Fer­
nando in Mexico City. The apostolic colleges were a comparatively recent 
development among the Franciscans in New Spain. They were an at­
tempt to help the order recover for itself the intensity and perceived suc­
cesses of the golden age of missionary activity in the sixteenth century 
after what was regarded as a stagnant time in the following century. 
These schools were modeled on colleges founded on the Iberian Penin­
sula starting in 1680. The Iberian missionary colleges were created to 
train and support the increasing number of men then engaged in itiner­
ant ministry within Spain itself, preaching in the countryside to renew re­
ligion among the faithfuJ.36 

The colleges were brought to the New World by a Mallorcan, Anto­
nio Llinas. Like Serra, Llinas was something of a restless academic. He 
was twice turned down for positions at the university in Palma and he 
went to New Spain to accept a lectureship there. After teaching at Fran­
ciscan schools in Queretaro, Celaya, and Valladolid, Llinas experienced 
a religious transformation himself in 1675. He related that he had a vi­
sion in which God had shown him "the manifest deceptions of this mis­
erable world:' So he went to Spain and consulted with the minister 
general of the order, Jose Ximenez Samaniego, a former spiritual direc­
tor to Sor Maria de Jesus de Agreda and her biographer. From that ex­
perience, Samaniego already had developed a certain interest in New 
World missions. Llinas and Samaniego decided that the opening of apos­
tolic colleges in the Americas could be an important way of renewing 
the Franciscan missionary enterprise there. Among Llinas's first recruits 
for this new enterprise were twelve Mallorcan Franciscans who enlisted 
in the cause in 1682.37 

The first college was founded in Queretaro. Llinas had developed an 
interest in organizing missionary activity in the Sierra Gorda, and Quere­
taro was the gateway to that region. The college was named Santa Cruz, 
after a cross that supposedly had been erected on the location by an early 
missionary after the conquest of the region by the Spaniards in 1531. Thus 
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Colegio de San Fernando, Mexico City. Photo by Maynard J. Geiger, O.F.M. 
Courtesy of the Santa Barbara Mission Archive-Library. 
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the founders of the first apostolic college consciously harked back to an 
earlier period of missionary activity. Two other apostolic colleges were 
eventually founded in Mexico: Nuestra Senora de Guadalupe in Zacate­
cas in 1707 and San Fernando in Mexico City in 1733. When Serra ar­
rived at San Fernando, he found his perfect match. A man seeking 
personal renewal had found an institution, the apostolic college, dedi­
cated to institutional renewal.38 

Sierra Gorda 

After spending six months at the Apostolic College of San Fernando, in 
July 1750 Serra and Palou were both sent to the mission of Jalpan in the 
Sierra Gorda. They spent the next eight years there and, for part of that 
period, Serra served as father president of the Sierra Gorda missions. 

Both Serra and the apostolic colleges aimed to restore something 
they felt had been lost-they were looking for the past. In the Sierra Gorda, 
they found the past, but not the one they were seeking; instead they en­
countered what they regarded as a repetition of an unsavory part of the 
colonial past in New Spain. The story behind this perception started 
around the time of the founding of the College of San Fernando, as im­
portant voices in New Spain were beginning to wonder if the mission­
presidio system had outlived its usefulness. In the 1720s, Pedro de Rivera, 
the military commander of Veracruz, had made an inspection tour of the 
northern presidios. He wrote a report concluding that the presidios were 
becoming too expensive to maintain. He also argued that, in some of 
them, soldiers were simply acting as mayordomos for the missions and 
were being forced to perform inappropriate tasks . He wrote that at one 
presidia, "The soldiers do nothing except assist the nearby three mis­
sions. Since they are not doing the job of military men, the presidia 
should be eliminated:' As Rivera's report was being circulated and dis­
cussed over the next decade, similar accusations were being leveled 
against the missions. Staff members of the Ministerio de Guerra y Ha­
cienda were complaining that the missions were also costing too much, 
especially because missionary salaries had to be paid from the treasury. 
In the 1740s, such views were shared by both the viceroy (the first Revilla 
Gigedo) and the auditor of the ministry (the Marques de Altamira). In 
Jose de Escandon they found the man to carry out a different method of 
colonization. 39 

Escandon arrived in Queretaro in 1721 as a low-ranking army officer 
and he gradually established himself as an important figure in the region. 
His name appears in the public records as both a purchaser and seller of 
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slaves in the city. He also became the owner of an important textile fac­
tory in Queretaro. Escandon undertook military campaigns against the 
Jonace and other Indians of the Sierra Gorda as early as 1735. His suc­
cess in these campaigns helped him move up the military ranks, and he 
became a colonel in 1740. In 1741 he was placed in charge of the Sierra 
Gorda. As one of his first tasks, Escandon sought to congregate the In­
dians into missions, and he looked to the College of San Fernando for 
assistance. 40 

The College of San Fernando's first experience in the region was 
the year before, in 1740, when it founded a mission at Vizarron, about 
halfway between the city of Queretaro and the highlands occupied by 
the Pame people. The existence of this mission is what encouraged Es­
candon to consider the College of San Fernando when he was thinking 
of missionaries for the highlands. Escandon assigned the college five 
missions-Santiago de Jalpan, Nuestra Senora de Purisima Concepcion 
del Agua de Landa, San Francisco del Valle de Tilaco, Nuestra Senora 
de la Luz de Tancoyol, and San Miguel Arcangel de Conca. In his biog­
raphy of Serra, Palou implied that these missions were all new, but the 
mission at Jalpan was already in existence. The Franciscans took it over 
from an Augustinian priest, Lucas Cabeza de Vaca.41 

The first few years of the College of San Fernando's experience with 
the Sierra Gorda were quite trying. Originally, the college did not have 
enough men to staff the five missions. Priests from the College of Santa 
Cruz in Queretaro had to fill in. In addition, two severe epidemics ravaged 
the region in the late 1740s, and four of the Fernandina priests perished 
in them in 1746-47. The future of the Fernandina mission enterprise in the 
region did not appear to be very solid.42 

Yet, that fragility was not a concern for Escandon and the govern­
ment ministry in Mexico City. He repeatedly stated that he did not fore­
see an extensive formal mission period for the churches that he was 
setting up. In 1747 he reported that in a short time the missions could 
easily be converted into curatos, or regular parishes. According to histo­
rian Lino Gomez Canedo, Escandon's plan was for the colonists and the 
Indians to live close to each other, and for the colonists to be the primary 
agents of the assimilation of the Indians to the Spanish empire. Colonists 
would be attracted by offers of land, which meant that the missions could 
never become large landowners. If such a colonization effort succeeded, 
it could be carried out at little cost to the treasury.43 

In the 1740s, the College of San Fernando did not have the resources 
to oppose Escand6n's plan. The Fernandinos were not entirely happy 
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with Escandon's government in the region. In 1742, for example, they de­
nounced the use of Jonace people as involuntary laborers on the hacien­
das of two regional officials. But practical considerations forced them to 
temper their criticisms of his plans for temporary missions since the col­
lege did not have abundant manpower to send to the area in any case. 
The fou r missionary deaths the college suffered in the late 1740s put fur­
ther severe strains on its ability to staff all of the missions. Therefore, the 
college found that it had to acquiesce with regard to Escandon's plans. In 
1748, for example, Guardian Jose Ortes de Velasco, who founded the first 
Fernandino mission in 1740, San Jose de Vizarron, agreed that the Sierra 
Gorda missions would soon be able to be turned into parishes and de­
livered to the bishop.44 

In 1751, a year after Serra's arrival in Jalpan, Escandon proposed the 
establishment of a civil settlement, the Villa de Herrera, near the mis­
sion lands. Soon settlers were complaining to him that they were unable 
to take possession of tl1e lands t11ey had been promised because the In­
dians (supported by the missionaries) were there and would not leave. Es­
candon exchanged a series of angry letters with the missionaries over the 
next few years until a compromise was engineered by military officer Vi­
cente de Posadas in 1754. The settlers were given land around Saucillo, 
slightly farther away from Jalpan, while the mission itself was allotted its 
own land in the Tancama Valley. A 1762 Franciscan document still re­
ported with irritation that the Villa de Herrera was "practically right in 
the middle of the five missions:'45 

Unfortunately, we do not know Serra's reaction to this situation be­
cause very few Franciscan letters from the Sierra Gorda have survived. Of 
those tl1at have come to light, none were written by Serra or Pal6u. There 
are only a few hints. In a 1776 letter, Serra made a cryptic reference to "the 
time of the disputes" with Escandon. Most interestingly, we also know 
that in 1752 Serra traveled to Mexico City and got himself appointed as 
an officer to the Inquisition in New Spain. Because of his previous expe­
rience with the Inquisition in Mallorca, this was a natural move for him 
to make after he heard rumors that two women of the area were engaged 
in some sort of demon worship. It is also possible, however, that he was 
trying to equip himself with additional jurisdictional powers for poten­
tial use against the settlers.46 

When the College of San Fernando was finally able to devote greater 
manpower to the Sierra Gorda missions, it attempted to resist Escandon's 
goal of turning the missions into parishes, a goal it had only reluctantly 
supported in the 1740s. In 1761, for example, some settlers in Escanela, 
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just south of Jalpan, tried to stimulate secularization proceedings, and 
the then-president of the missions, Juan Ramos de Lora, resisted vigor­
ously. The very next year, Serra and Palou joined two other friars in stat­
ing that "considerable time, patience, and effort" would be necessary 
before the missions could be handed over to a bishop.47 

By this time, Escandon had long since left the Sierra Gorda. In grat­
itude for undertaking the colonizing task there and for his success in 
keeping costs down, Escandon was rewarded with the title Conde de 
Sierra Gorda in 1749. He was also given the opportunity to colonize 
Nuevo Santander, the area south of Texas on the Gulf Coast of New 
Spain.48 There he was able to more fully develop the strategy he had ini­
tiated in the Sierra Gorda. He jettisoned the mission-presidia system in 
favor of a large number of pueblos of settlers. The missions were mostly 
reduced to simple churches and the missionaries became little more than 
chaplains to the settlers, much to the horror of the friars from the Apos­
tolic College of Guadalupe in Zacatecas who staffed the missions. In this 
strategy, Escandon was reflecting Bourbon policy in New Spain, since by 
this time, most missions in central Mexico had already been secularized. 49 

One result of this method was that settlements were frequently raided 
by the Indians whose lands were being taken, and the Indians were attacked 
in turn by the settlers (who doubled as militia) and soldiers. The authori­
ties declared a sixteenth-century style "war of fire and blood" against the 
Indians. Captured Indians were often sent to the haciendas of the military 
leaders or to the textile works in Queretaro, where they labored as virtual 
slaves. The Indians who resisted had the choice of exile or extermination. 
By the end of the eighteenth century, no more than 1,700 of the approxi­
mately 2 5,000 Indians who had lived in the area at the beginning of the 
colonization activity were still there. According to Patricia Osante, the legal 
privileges granted to Escandon in this endeavor were very reminiscent of 
those granted to sixteenth-century Spanish colonizers.50 

The Fernandinos followed all these developments closely. They be­
lieved that diminishing the power of the missions would return New 
Spain to a very undesirable past. Escandon's policies seemed to them to 
repeat the exploitation of the native peoples that had marked the firs t 
decades of Spanish colonization in the New World. In the narrative of 
Spanish expansion that was shared by most religious orders and that 
dated from the sixteenth-century writings of Bartolome de las Casas, in­
digenous peoples needed to be grouped into missions to protect them 
from such oppression. Now, they feared, the brutal past had sprung to 
life again. 
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The college eventually accepted secularization of the Sierra Gorda 
missions in 1770, but that was only to free up men for the Alta Califor­
nia enterprise, which had begun the year before. California was the place 
where they were going to make their statement. Serra had come to the 
New World looking to recover the religious zeal of his own past. In New 
Spain he had found representations of two separate pasts. Escand6n's 
methods recalled the oppressive colonial past, when conquistadores had 
virtually enslaved the native peoples. The apostolic colleges' activities 
recalled the missionary response to that oppressive past, when heroic 
friars gathered the native peoples into self-sustaining Christian commu­
nities in which they would be protected from secular domination. In 
California, first in Baja California and then in Alta California, Serra 
meant to make what he regarded as his order's heroic past come once 
again to life. 51 

Baja California 

When the Jesuits were expelled from New Spain in 1767, the Fernandi­
nos jumped at the chance to assume control of the seventeen missions 
the Jesuits had founded between 1697 and 1767 in the southern two­
thirds of Baja California. Like most people in New Spain, they did not 
know very much about the peninsula, but they did know that the Jesuits 
had managed to attain a considerable degree of control over the military 
and that Baja California had not attracted a large number of civilian set­
tlers. The balance of power, in other words, was reversed from that in 
the Sierra Gorda. This state of affairs explains an odd occurrence that 
happened while Serra and his fellow Franciscans were at Tepic waiting for 
a boat to take them on the next leg of the trip from Mexico City to Baja 
California. There were other Franciscans in the port as well, one group 
from the Apostolic College of Santa Cruz in Queretaro and the other 
group from the Province ofJalisco. Both of these groups were bound for 
the former Jesuit missions in Sonora, where Jesuits had waged hard 
struggles against settlers and soldiers for decades.52 

Suddenly, the viceroy ordered that the assignments were to be 
changed. The Jaliscans were to go to Baja California and the Fernandinos 
were to go to Sonora. The reason given was that since the Fernandinos and 
the Queretans were from apostolic colleges, they would probably be able 
to work better together in Sonora. The Jaliscans, coming from another 
type of Franciscan institution, should be the ones to work separately in 
Baja California. 
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Serra was furious. He quickly dispatched Palau and another friar to 
Guanajuato so that they could personally lobby Visitor General Jose de 
Galvez against the change. The effort was successful and the viceroy re­
scinded his earlier order. We suspect that the impetus for the proposed 
change in destinations was Manuel de Ocio, a Baja California entrepre­
neur who had long quarreled with the Jesuits about their significant con­
trol over the few settlers in Baja California. Ocio owned property in 
Guadalajara and his son had just married into a prosperous Guadala­
jara family. Ocio may well have hoped that Franciscans from the 
Guadalajara region might be more amenable to allowing settlers greater 
influence than yet another missionary group headquartered in Mexico 
City, as the Jesuits had been. But Serra's strong reaction to the proposal 
indicated that for him, Baja California had a particular attraction. With 
missionaries dominant over settlers, it was the mirror opposite of the 
Sierra Gorda.s3 

When Serra and his fellow Franciscans arrived in Baja California, they 
soon discovered that its missions were in very bad shape. Four years of 
drought and other natural disasters, including plagues of locusts, had af­
flicted the Baja California peninsula in the mid-176os. Nonetheless Galvez, 
who personally came to Baja California in 1768, wanted the missions there 
to supply the expedition to the north that he was organizing. Therefore, 
he chose to present the poverty of the Baja California missions as being 
only a temporary state of affairs. He had to argue that these missions could 
afford to contribute to the northern expedition while still functioning. So 
he concocted a fiction that the poverty of the missions was the result of 
the greed of the comisionados who had been temporarily placed over them 
by Gaspar de Portola after the Jesuits had left but before the new mis­
sionaries had arrived. These comisionados, the story went, had despoiled 
the missions. The Franciscans went along with the account that Galvez 
put forth. A version of it appears in Palau's Historical Memoirs of New 
California. In that volume, this story is used as an object lesson: only mis­
sionaries can be trusted with the mission temporalities.54 

Thanks to the research of Harry Crosby, we know the identities of 
these comisionados. They were generally soldiers from the presidio at 
Loreto. Not one of them ever enriched himself with mission plunder. 
The commander of the Loreto presidio was Fernando de Rivera y Mon­
cada. He had been in that post since 17511 and he knew each of these sol­
diers extremely well. The missionaries' acceptance of the story of their 
alleged greed was probably one of the things that poisoned the relation­
ship between Rivera and Serra. In fact, the poverty of the Baja California 
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Ruins of Mission San Fernando Rey de Espana de Velicata. Photo by Maynard). 
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missions was not temporary, and their continuing decline was one rea­
son the Fernandinos were quite happy to unload them on the Domini­
cans in 1772.55 

But for Serra, the story contained an important moral. If the Fran­
ciscan missions in Alta California were to be as successful as he judged 
the Baja California missions to have been, the soldiers should have no 
independent authority at the missions, which should be exclusively under 
missionary control. The military had as little place in his vision of a re­
established heroic age of missions as settlers did. 

In May 1769, Serra and Portola departed from Baja California's most 
northerly mission outpost and headed overland for San Diego. Shortly 
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after the journey began, an event occurred that made a great impact on 
Serra. This is how he described it in his diary: 

On May 15 ... I had a great consolation .. . While I was 
within the little shelter of my dwelling place, I received 
notice that gentiles were coming and were already near. 
I praised the Lord and kissed the ground, giving thanks 
to His Divine Majesty that after so many years of long­
ing He granted me the grace of being among them in 
their own land. I went forth and immediately found my­
self in the company of a dozen Indians, all men, all of 
whom were adults with the exception of two boys, the 
one about ten years old, the other about sixteen. Then 
I saw what I could hardly begin to believe when I read 
about it or was told about it, namely that they go about 
entirely naked like Adam in Paradise before the fall.56 

After nineteen years in the New World, for the first time Serra was 
finally entering upon the full-fledged missionary experience of being the 
first to work among non-Christian peoples in their own land. For as we 
have seen, the Pame among whom he had worked in the Sierra Gorda 
had been evangelized well before he and the Fernandinos arrived. Also, 
the indigenous peoples in Baja California among whom he had spent the 
past year had been evangelized decades before by the Jesuits. Serra was 
quite literally overwhelmed by this new experience. Finally, he was expe­
riencing what he had hoped to encounter when he departed for America. 

Junipero Serra would meet the inhabitants of Alta California as a man 
in search of his own past and his order's past. He would meet them as a 
man who, in his own mind, was fighting on their behalf against what he 
deemed to be the oppressive practices from the colonial past, which had 
erupted into the present. Many of the ways in which he would wage that 
fight had been forged as a result of the perspectives he had acquired dur­
ing his long journey from Petra to Palma, then to Mexico City, the Sierra 
Gorda, and Baja California. He carried each of these places with him as he 
entered Alta California. 
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